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1. Complainant(s): 

Terry Horton 
 
 

National Community Reinvestment Coalition (“NCRC”) 
740 15th Street NW, Ste. 400 
Washington, DC 20005 
 

2. Other Aggrieved Persons:   
NONE 

 
3. The following is alleged to have occurred or is about to occur: 

Violation of 42 U.S.C. §§ 3605, 3617; 24 C.F.R. §§ 100.50(b)(3), 100.120(a); 100.135(a) 
 
Unlawful discrimination against a person because of race . . . by any person or other entity whose 
business includes engaging in residential real estate-related transactions in making available a 
residential real estate-related transaction, or in the terms or conditions of such a transaction.  

 
Unlawful discrimination against a person because of race . . . by any person or other entity whose 
business includes engaging in residential real estate-related transactions in making available loans 
or other financial assistance for a dwelling, or which is or is to be secured by a dwelling. 
 
Unlawful discrimination against a person because of race . . . by any person or other entity whose 
business includes engaging in the selling, brokering or appraising of residential real property in 
making available such services, or in the performance of such services. 

  
4. The alleged violation occurred because of:    

Race 
 

5. Address and location of the property in question (or if no property is involved, the city and 
stated where the discrimination occurred):    
951 Dana Avenue, Cincinnati, OH. 45229 

 
6. Respondent(s): 

Martin Appraisal Company 
5475 Sidney Road  
Cincinnati, OH 45238 
 
Appraisal Nation 
500 Gregson Dr., #120 
Cary, NC 27511, US 
 
Stratton Equities 
28 Bloomfield Avenue 
Pine Brook, NJ 07058 
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7. The following is a brief and concise statement of the facts regarding the alleged violation: 

 
When Terry Horton, who is Black, sought to refinance a multi-unit rental property fully occupied 

by Black tenants, the appraisal that he received from Martin Appraisal Company included several 
objective errors and adopted a flawed methodology, resulting in a significant undervaluation of the 
property.  Mr. Horton informed his lender, Stratton Equities, of these blatant errors in the appraisal, and 
later provided a second appraisal to support his argument that the first appraisal was inaccurate.  Rather 
than taking any proactive measures in the face of this information, Stratton Equities informed Mr. Horton 
that the appraisal company was unlikely to change its valuation, and therefore, he must either move 
forward with the inaccurate appraisal or pay out of pocket for a new one.  As weeks elapsed, interest rates 
continued to rise.  By the time Stratton Equities accepted an alternative appraisal, interest rates had 
increased to a point where it was no longer feasible for Mr. Horton to refinance his property.  Mr. Horton 
suffered substantial economic damage from the discriminatory appraisal and the bank’s unreasonable 
reliance thereof.    

Mr. Horton owns 951 Dana Avenue, Cincinnati, Ohio, 45229, a multi-unit building which he 
rents out to low-income tenants who qualify for Section 8 housing.  In early 2022, Mr. Horton sought to 
refinance his property to take advantage of low interest rates and pull cash out in support of a proposed 
venture with the Port of Greater Cincinnati Development Authority to purchase a new property in his 
community for a mixed-use development that would create additional housing options for Section 8 
renters.  On February 4, 2022, when Mr. Horton began to seek refinancing options, his outstanding 
mortgage, which originated in 2012, had an unpaid principal balance of $190,671.01, an interest rate of 
3.25%, a monthly principal and interest of $1,068.31, and a monthly escrow payment of $757.79.  In 
early February, the average 30-year fixed rate mortgage in the United States was 3.55%.1 

 Mr. Horton reached out to broker Timothy McClure of McClure Capital Lending LLC in early 
February 2022 about refinancing his property.  Mr. McClure put Mr. Horton in touch with a potential 
lender, Stratton Equities.  Stratton Equities Senior Loan Officer Edrian Francisco sent Mr. Horton a good 
faith estimate (GFE) worksheet for the loan on February 2, 2022, which estimated a sales price of 
$500,000 for Mr. Horton’s property, with a total loan amount of $375,000 at a fixed interest rate of 
5.235% for 30 years.  As part of that process, Mr. Horton provided information to his lender, including 
the rental income for the property based on the current lease agreements.   

Stratton Equities hired an Appraisal Management Company (“AMC”) called Appraisal Nation to 
arrange an appraisal of Mr. Horton’s property. The AMC contracted with Martin Appraisal Company to 
conduct the appraisal. 

 In February 2022, Brent Martin, a white man, from Martin Appraisal Company conducted the 
appraisal.  Mr. Horton did not meet Mr. Martin in person because, on the day of Mr. Martin’s visit to the 
property, Mr. Horton was not feeling well due to a recent dental procedure.  However, Mr. Horton did 
have contact with Mr. Martin through email and a phone call, and made arrangements for his tenants, all 
of whom are Black, to let Mr. Martin into the property to do the walk through. 

 On February 24, Mr. Martin issued an appraisal report (“Martin Appraisal”) that valued the 
property at $359,000.  It soon became apparent to Mr. Horton that the appraisal had several blatant, 
objective errors.  First, although Mr. Horton earned $4,679 in monthly rental income, the Martin 
Appraisal reported the rental income for the property at only $4,207.  Second, Martin Appraisal 
underreported the square footage at 5,091 feet, off from 5,626 square feet.  Based on this faulty number, 

 
1 https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/MORTGAGE30US 
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the Martin Appraisal then used parameters for a search for comparable properties of 3,800-5,500 square 
feet.  Third, the Martin Appraisal reported only three bedrooms, when there were in fact five, for Units #1 
and #2 on the property.  Based on these and other errors, the comparable properties (“comps”) selected in 
the Martin Appraisal produced an artificially low gross rental multiplier (“GRM”) range, which is 
considered the most critical index when valuing small multifamily structures.  The Martin Appraisal 
further depressed the valuation of Mr. Horton's property by selecting a GRM at the low end of the range.  

 Surprised by the low valuation, Mr. Horton informed Mr. Francisco that he did not agree with the 
appraisal, specifically noting, among other things, that the square footage and rental income data relied 
upon in the appraisal were wrong.  On March 2, Mr. Francisco emailed Mr. Horton an Appraisal Nation 
dispute form.  Mr. Horton also reached out to an appraiser with experience in the area where his property 
was located whom he knew, Thaddeus Dawson.  On March 11, Mr. Horton emailed Mr. Francisco to 
notify him that he would be having an appraisal done, which would likely be completed by March 14.  
Mr. Francisco advised Mr. Horton that he would only be able to use the sales comps for the dispute, but 
not the entire appraisal.  In response, Mr. Horton made clear that he disputed the Martin Appraisal’s 
choice of comps but also specifically flagged its reliance on inaccurate square footage and rental income 
data.  On March 15, Mr. Dawson sent Mr. Horton the appraisal that he had done of Mr. Horton’s property 
(“Dawson Appraisal”), which placed the value of the property at $560,000.  That same night, Mr. Horton 
sent the Dawson Appraisal to Mr. Francisco.   

 On March 17, Mr. Horton submitted the appraisal dispute form.  Although Mr. Horton had raised 
other concerns with his lender about the Martin Appraisal, Appraisal Nation’s dispute form only allowed 
Mr. Horton to provide sales data for up to four properties.  Mr. Horton did so, and included information 
about recent sales of two Dana Avenue properties – one across the street from his, and another a few 
houses down – as comps that should be taken into account.  He used the comments section to explain why 
these comps were more appropriate indicators of value based on the size, income, and condition of his 
property.   

 On March 21, the AMC submitted its rebuttal to Mr. Horton’s dispute, and refused to change its 
$359,000 valuation.  Notably, it did not address the errors in the appraisal, and refused to consider the 
comps offered by Mr. Horton.    

On March 22, Mr. Horton wrote to Mr. Francisco with concerns about the AMC’s response to his 
complaint, flagging inconsistencies within the rebuttal and its ongoing reliance on an inaccurate square 
footage range, among other issues.  He specifically questioned the refusal to consider any of the comps 
that he had provided, particularly the recent sale of the building across the street.  Based on all of these 
issues, Mr. Horton expressed his concern that the appraiser had “gone out of his way to devalue the 
subject property by ignoring comparable sales that indicate higher values and reconciling the low end of 
the value range.”  Mr. Horton noted that “this could be unconscious bias” at work, and asked that his 
complaint be escalated or another appraisal be done.   

By March 29, it was clear that the AMC did not intend to address any of these concerns, and the 
lender was refusing to do anything either.  In the meantime, interest rates began to climb.  Mr. Horton 
expressed his dismay with the situation to Mr. Francisco and reiterated the substance of the errors in the 
Martin Appraisal.  Despite his knowledge of the errors in the Martin Appraisal, Mr. Francisco advised 
Mr. Horton that he should either use the Martin Appraisal or order a new appraisal from a different 
appraisal management company, which Mr. Horton would have to pay for out of pocket.  In an email 
exchange, Mr. Francisco informed Mr. Horton that notwithstanding the clear inaccuracies in the Martin 
Appraisal, and inconsistencies in the AMC’s rebuttal, the valuation was not going to change from 
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$359,000.  On March 29, Mr. Francisco wrote, “it seems like this appraiser has made up his mind on the 
valuation and there is nothing I can do.” 

On April 11, Mr. Francisco emailed Mr. Horton confirming that Mr. Horton wanted to order a 
new appraisal.  This third appraisal, which cost Mr. Horton $870, was conducted by Dirk E. Schneider of 
Schneider & Associates, and it was arranged through a different AMC, Incenter Appraisal Management 
LLC.  Mr. Schneider issued an appraisal report on April 28, 2022, which valued the property at $450,000  
(“Schneider Appraisal”).  Notably, the Schneider Appraisal incorporated one of the comps that Mr. 
Horton had submitted in his appraisal dispute form, but which Mr. Martin had refused to use – the 
building across the street from Mr. Horton’s property, which had recently sold for $499,000.   

In mid-May, Mr. Francisco presented Mr. Horton with an overview of the refinance terms based 
on the $450,000 Schneider Appraisal: a 30-year fixed-rate loan with an interest rate of 7.43% and 60% 
LTV ($270,000).  In total, with full amortizing, taxes, and insurance, the payment would come out to 
roughly $2,700 per month.  By this time in May, the interest rate for an average 30-year fixed-rate 
mortgage had climbed to 5.30%.  Mr. Horton asked for the opportunity to review the loan documents but 
did not receive them until the day of the closing, which was scheduled for June 1.  When he was finally 
able to review the full terms at the closing, including the amount of cash that Mr. Horton would receive, 
Mr. Horton realized that refinancing his mortgage under these terms was now too expensive to make 
sense for him.  Therefore, he did not move forward with the transaction.   

Mr. Horton contacted the National Community Reinvestment Coalition, an organization that 
works to end discrimination in lending, housing, and business.  After learning about Mr. Horton’s 
experience, NCRC retained the services of a Cincinnati-based appraisal expert, Derrick Mayes.  After 
reviewing the Martin Appraisal, Mr. Mayes issued a report stating that “it is our opinion that some degree 
of bias is apparent in the reconciliation of values, which fall squarely on the very low end of the value 
spectrum,” and concluding that “the appraiser was negligent and violated the competency requirement in 
[Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice] USPAP.”    

These facts demonstrate that there is both direct and circumstantial evidence that race was a 
motivating factor in the discriminatory treatment that Mr. Horton experienced.  As set forth above, (1) 
Mr. Horton is a Black property owner, and all of his tenants are Black; (2) there were clear objective 
factual and methodological errors in the Martin Appraisal; (3) those errors included misstating the size 
and rental income of the property, both of which are objective and verifiable facts; (4) even after these 
errors were identified, neither the appraiser, the AMC, nor the lender took any steps to correct them; (5) 
the appraiser and the AMC refused to consider recent sales data for comparable properties located on the 
same block as Mr. Horton’s property; (6) the appraiser relied instead on properties inferior in size and 
condition, and located in an area more urban and dense, and less racially mixed, than the neighborhood 
where Mr. Horton’s property is located; (7) notwithstanding its description of Mr. Horton’s property as 
being in good condition, and the fact that the property was superior in size and income relative to the 
comps selected, the appraisal reconciled all values at the lower end of the range, further depressing the 
valuation of Mr. Horton’s property; (8) throughout this process, the lender repeatedly told Mr. Horton that 
the appraisal was unlikely to change, and so he either needed to move ahead with it or pay for a new 
appraisal; (9) the AMC neither acknowledged nor addressed the serious errors in the Martin Appraisal; 
(10) a second appraisal valued Mr. Horton’s property at more than $200,000 higher in value, and a third 
appraisal valued Mr. Horton’s property at nearly $100,000 higher; and (11) the appraisal methods used 
deviated from the recognized methods and techniques of real estate appraisal provided for in the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP).  All of these factors point to race playing a role in 
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Mr. Horton receiving a discriminatory appraisal and thus losing out on the opportunity to refinance his 
property at favorable rates. 

Mr. Horton has suffered extensive economic damage from the discriminatory appraisal and its 
fallout.  In addition to the out-of-pocket expenses that Mr. Horton incurred, the delay caused by the initial 
discriminatory appraisal and the lack of any corrective action by the AMC or the lender ultimately 
prevented Mr. Horton from being able to refinance his loan, invest in a new property, and make other 
economic decisions that would benefit his business and his family.  For example, as a result of his 
inability to pull money out of his property, Mr. Horton has found it necessary to obtain an alternative 
high-interest consumer loan to cover repairs for his home and rental properties, as well as other expenses.  
Even though he was never able to refinance his property, his credit was significantly harmed by this 
process because of the numerous inquiries associated with his efforts to secure a refinance loan, which 
have put flags on his account and which in turn has prevented him from securing limit increases for credit 
cards.  In these and other ways, he has been and continues to be harmed by the actions of the appraiser, 
AMC, and lender, who independently and collectively thwarted his attempt to refinance his mortgage in 
2022.   

NCRC has also experienced harm as an organization as a result of these discriminatory acts.  
NCRC has a mission to promote equal opportunity in housing and finance, and has undertaken substantial 
efforts to raise public awareness about discriminatory appraisal practices, such as the practices of the 
Respondents.  NCRC also created and conducted a matched-pair appraisal testing study to expose these 
kinds of discriminatory practices, which frustrate NCRC’s mission.  As a result of Respondents’ actions, 
NCRC has needed to divert hundreds of hours of staff time and other scarce organizational resources to 
this case, at the expense of other projects to carry out its mission. 

8. The most recent date on which the alleged discrimination occurred: 
 
June 1, 2022 

9. Types of federal funds identified: 
 
NONE 

 
10. The acts alleged in this complaint, if proven, may constitute a violation of the following:  

 
42 U.S.C. §§ 3605, 3617; 24 C.F.R. §§ 100.50(b)(3), 100.120(a), 100.135(a) 

 
 
I declare under penalty of perjury that I have read this complaint (including any attachments) and 
that it is true and correct. 
 
 
 
Terry Horton        Date 
 
 
 
 
Jesse Van Tol, CEO        Date 
National Community Reinvestment Coalition 

2/22/2023




